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Pennsylvania-American Water Company


OPINION AND ORDER
BY THE COMMISSION:


Before the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) for consideration and disposition are the Exceptions of the Complainants in this proceeding to the Initial Decision of Administrative Law Judge Marlane R. Chestnut issued February 18, 2009.   Also for our consideration and disposition is the Joint Petition for Settlement (Settlement) of this proceeding filed by the Office of Consumer Advocate (OCA) and the Pennsylvania-American Water Company (PAWC) dated October 29, 2008.   The Settlement is attached to the Initial Decision.  
History of the Proceeding 



The Commission received twenty-four Formal Complaints in response to the announcement by the Pennsylvania-American Water Company (PAWC) that it intended to convert the West Shore Regional Water Treatment Plant and the Silver Springs Water Treatment Plant from chlorinated water to chloraminated water.  These separate Complaints were filed on August 2, 2007, by Gerard and Barbara Martin at Docket No. C-20078045; on August 3, 2007, by Susan Pickford at Docket No. C‑20078029; Robert and Nancy Cox at Docket No. C-20078030, Anthony Davis at Docket No. C-20078031 and Kelly Houpt at Docket No. C-20078043 on August 6, 2007; by James and Sandra Whittaker at Docket No. C-20078032, Paul and Elizabeth Hemler at Docket No. C-20078033, Lisa Walker at Docket No. C-20078034, Victoria Millard at Docket No. C-20078035, Christine and Erik Bish at Docket No. C-20078036, David and Jessica Sears at Docket No. C-20078037, Matt and Tricia Coniglio at Docket No. C‑20078038, Hans and Renee Wertz at Docket No. C-20078039, Nancy Bigelow at Docket No. C-20078040, Barbara Stern at Docket No. C-20078041, William Bottonari at Docket No. C-20078042, and Arthur Sconing at Docket No. C-20078044; on August 7, 2007, by Carl Crone at Docket No. C-20078046; on August 8, 2007 by Ann Marie Judson at Docket No. C-20078051 and Adele Wilcox and John Kirk at Docket No. C‑20078052; on August 9, 2007 by Sharon Landis at Docket No. C‑20078050; Danielle Oakes at Docket No. C-20078061 and Priscilla Smith at 

Docket No. C‑20078062; and on May 19, 2008 by Missak Sisserian at Docket

No.  C-2008-2044004. 
 



Although the various Complaints were not identical, each referred to the alleged adverse health effects of using chloraminated water and requested that the Commission prevent PAWC from proceeding with its program until the health issues are addressed.  



PAWC filed separate Answers at each docket on August 30, 2007.
  In these Answers, PAWC denied that there is “a reliability, safety or quality problem” with its service, and explained that it had obtained the necessary Public Water Supply permits from the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection (DEP), after demonstrating to DEP’s satisfaction that the proposed use of chloramines will “achieve public health goals and produce water that meets current and anticipated standards with no known health effects.”  PAWC went on to note that, while research is constantly on-going regarding the effects of different water treatment techniques (including but not limited to chloramination), both DEP and the Federal Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) have concluded that chloramines do not pose health problems for humans at levels used for drinking water disinfection, that public water systems in Pennsylvania and other states have been using chloraminated water for decades.  PAWC’s Answers asserted that it had engaged in considerable outreach including: (1) the mailing of informational brochures to customers; (2) the provision of posters to area pet stores; (3) the placement of ads in local newspapers; (4) the public information sessions, including one for interested state and local elected officials; (5) the publication of information on its website; (6) the direct contact with hospitals, dialysis centers and other critical customers; and (7) its work with the media to increase community outreach.  Finally, PAWC stated that it had delayed the conversion in response to the customers’ concerns.

On September 4, 2007, the ALJ consolidated the Complaints for hearing and decision purposes after she determined that each of the above Complaints concerns a common question of law or fact.  52 Pa. Code § 5.81.  On September 7, 2007, the Office of Consumer Advocate (OCA) filed a Notice of Intervention and Public Statement.  



In its March 20, 2008 Order, the Commission determined that the Complaints and raised issues other than those directed to whether the water to be provided is in compliance with the Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA).  These include: (1) the reasonableness and adequacy of the notice given to customers (distinct from the DEP’s permitting requirements); (2) the prudency and appropriateness of PAWC’s choice of treatment alternatives and its cost and implementation (again, distinct from the DEP’s requirements); and (3) the suitability of the water provided at the tap for all household uses (water can be found compliant with the SDWA but can nonetheless stain laundry, be foul-smelling, sediment-laden and/or damaging to plumbing fixtures).  



On April 14, 2008, the DEP filed a Petition to Intervene/Notice of Intervention, in which it stated that it sought intervention for the purpose of addressing the nature and extent of overlapping jurisdiction of the Commission and the DEP on water quality issues.  DEP Petition at 2.  



Both a public input hearing and an evidentiary hearing were held on October 22, 2008.  Further evidentiary hearings were held on October 28-30, 2008.


At the conclusion of the Joint Complainants’ case-in-chief, PAWC made an oral motion to dismiss the Complaints for failure to establish a prima facie case with respect to the three issues that had been raised in this proceeding.  52 Pa. Code § 5.103(c)(3).  The ALJ granted the motion, in part, finding that the Joint Complainants had failed to present evidence that chloraminated water would be unsuitable for household use or that PAWC had abused its managerial discretion in deciding to implement the chloramination.  The ALJ denied the motion with respect to the issue of the adequacy of the notice provided by PAWC, finding that a prima facie case may have been established.  Tr. at 431, 434-435.  



At the hearing of October 29, 2009, the OCA and PAWC announced that they had reached a Settlement, which was filed with the Commission on that day.
  On October 30, 2008, DEP filed a Statement in Support.  The Joint Complainants did not join in the Settlement.  The Joint Complainants filed a Main Brief on November 25, 2008.  PAWC and the DEP filed Reply Briefs on December 5, 2008.  The record, which was closed on December 5, 2008, consists of: Joint Complainants Sts. 4 and 4-S (revised) and associated exhibits; PAWC Sts. 1 and 2 and associated exhibits; various hearing and cross-examination exhibits and a transcript of 490 pages.
  On February 2, 2009, the ALJ provided a Notification to the Parties of the Taking of Official Notice relating to the DEP’s approvals, including the dates the notices required as part of that process that were published in the Pennsylvania Bulletin.  52 Pa. Code § 5.408(c).  I.D. at 19-20.  
In her Initial Decision, the ALJ found that the Settlement represents reasonable and appropriate actions that directly address the concerns raised by the customers in this proceeding.  I.D. at 43.  The ALJ concluded, inter alia, that the Joint Complainants failed to sustain their burden of establishing by a preponderance of substantial evidence that: (1) the notice provided by PAWC to its customers violated Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501, by providing service that is not “adequate, efficient, safe and reasonable;” (2) PAWC committed a manifest abuse of discretion or acted arbitrarily so as to constitute a violation of Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code, 1501 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501, in its choice of treatment alternatives; (3) PAWC committed a violation of Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501, by providing water not suitable for household uses.  Consequently, the ALJ ordered that the various Complaints should be denied, as there was insufficient evidence to establish that PAWC violated the Public Utility Code in any way.  The Joint Complainants filed Exceptions on March 10, 2009, and PAWC filed Reply Exceptions on March 12, 2009.  DEP received our permission to file their Reply Exceptions on March 25, 2009, instead of the original deadline of March 20, 2009.   
Discussion


In her Initial Decision, ALJ Chestnut drew twenty-three Findings of Fact and eighteen Conclusions of Law.  We shall incorporate herein by reference and adopt the ALJ’s Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law unless they are either expressly or by necessary implication overruled or modified by this Opinion and Order.



We are not required to consider expressly or at great length each and every contention raised by a party to our proceedings.  University of Pennsylvania, et al. v. Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission, 485 A.2d 1217, 1222 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1984).  Any exception or argument that is not specifically addressed herein shall be deemed to have been duly considered and denied without further discussion.


Section 332(a) of the Public Utility Code (Code), 66 Pa. C.S. § 332(a), provides that the party seeking affirmative relief from the Commission has the burden of proof.  Since the Joint Complainants are the Parties seeking affirmative relief from the Commission, they are the Parties with the burden of proof.  The Pennsylvania Supreme Court has held that, when a litigant has the “burden of proof,” it means that his claim will not be accepted until he offers sufficient proof to support it.  Se-Ling Hosiery v. Margulies, 364 Pa. 45, 48-49, 70 A.2d 854, 856 (1950).  In matters before the Commission, the burden of proof is met when the party establishes the necessary facts by a preponderance of the evidence.  A preponderance of the evidence is that degree of proof which “fairly out-weighs the probative value of any proof offered against the claim.”  Id.  (emphasis in original).


The Joint Complainants’ first Exception objects to the adequacy of the due process that they have been afforded by the ALJ.  Specifically, the first Exception states as follows:

The ALJ erred in finding that notice was reasonable and adequate where significant evidence was adduced at the hearing that 1) the untimeliness of the notice resulted in denying complainants their due process right to appeal the permits and otherwise object to or challenge the safety and necessity of chloramination in a full and fair hearing in the appropriate forums and 2) the notice did not provide timely adequate or complete information on which customers could understand their risks and prepare to protect themselves and their families.  

Exc. at 4.  


The Joint Complainants contend that, since PAWC failed to provide reasonable and adequate notice, thus costing the consumers the right to challenge the health and environmental issues associated with chloramines through DEP, it is incumbent on the Commission to act to protect the consumers and their homes until these issues can be properly litigated or resolved.  Exc. at 8.  The Joint Complainants complain that the notices produced prior to July 13, 2007, were not provided to all customers.  The Joint Complainants note that, while direct phone notice was given to hospitals, dialysis centers, supermarkets and major users, this notice expressly excluded more than 35,000 PAWC customers.  Instead, the only notice sent by PAWC directly to all customers was mailed thirty days prior to the intended implementation date which gave the Complainants less than thirty days to react and no available forum at the DEP to challenge the chloramination treatment.  Exc. at 10-12.  


In its Reply Exceptions, PAWC supports the ALJ’s finding that this proceeding could not include the examination of the reasonableness or adequacy of the various notices required by DEP throughout the permitting process.  R. Exc. at 2.  PAWC argues that the Joint Complainants have already brought up the issue of DEP’s notice procedures in their Petition for Interlocutory Review and that the Commission concluded that it would not second-guess the DEP’s permitting decisions.  R. Exc. at 3; Order entered September 15, 2008 at 14.



PAWC explains that the DEP’s regulations regarding the publication of notices in the Pennsylvania Bulletin for permit applications under the Pennsylvania Safe Drinking Water Act
 (PA SDWA) do not require notice for a change in treatment chemicals from chlorine to chloramine.  25 Pa. Code § 109.503(d)(1).  PAWC argues that the DEP categorizes changes in treatment chemicals as minor changes that do not require publications.  25 Pa. Code § 109.503(b)(2).  PAWC contends that Susan Pickford’s challenge to the notice provided by PAWC regarding the DEP permits, which is the same as the Joint Complainants’ issue raised herein, was rejected by the Environmental Hearing Board (EHB).  See Pickford v. Pennsylvania-American Water Co., 2008 WL 2081196 at 2 (Pa. E.H.B.).  The Commonwealth Court affirmed the EHB’s decision on appeal, saying that regulations do not require published notices for construction or operation permits for water treatment plants to single out for emphasis the disinfection method to be used.  Pickford v. Department of Environmental Protection, 999 C.D. 2008 at 4.   


PAWC asserts that no amount of advance notice would be acceptable to the Joint Complainants because they can no longer challenge the DEP permits.  R. Exc. at 5.  PAWC also notes the ALJ’s statement explaining that there is no specific Commission regulation or order determining the amount of time that customers must be informed whenever a water company changes its choice of disinfectant.  I.D. at 32; R. Exc. at 6.  



PAWC notes that, since PAWC has voluntarily delayed implementation of chloramination, there is no concrete injury or other actual harm that can be redressed by order of the Commission.  PAWC argues that its Settlement with the OCA renders the claim of inadequate notice moot because PAWC has agreed to provide at least three months’ notice to its customers before switching to chloramination.   R. Exc. at 9.


The DEP also replied to the Joint Complainants’ Exceptions.  In addition to statements that are consistent with PAWC’s Reply Exceptions, DEP asserts as follows:
To allow the Complainants to collaterally attack these permits after the construction of the facilities under the guise of a PUC water quality/service issue is substantially unfair to the PAWC.  It would cause every holder in possession of a Department SDWA permit to proceed with construction “at its own peril.”

After the appeal period for the permit expires, the water supplier cannot be expected to continue to deal with objections to the pre-construction phase as the uncertainty created thereby would place an unreasonable burden on economic development . . . . Persons requesting a construction permit would be reluctant to spend considerable effort, time and money to construct a facility when it could be found after construction was complete that the construction permit appeal period was not final as to all pre-construction issues which could have been raised previously.
DEP R. Exc. at 5.


In her Initial Decision, the ALJ observed that the only evidence presented by the Joint Complainants was the testimony of, at most, thirteen customers who felt that the notice was inadequate because it was untimely, in that PAWC did not send out brochures until thirty days prior to the planned transition to chloramination and did not hold informational meetings open to the public until July 16, 2007, thus not giving customers adequate time to prepare. 


The ALJ concluded that, despite the sincerity of the customers’ beliefs, the testimony they gave was simply legally insufficient to provide a basis for a Commission finding that PAWC violated the Code.  The ALJ found that the customers’ statement represented conclusions and personal opinions that were not substantiated by specific facts.  I.D. at 31.  For instance, none of the lay witnesses who testified on behalf of the Joint Complainants regarding the issue of suitability had first-hand experience in using chloraminated water.  I.D. at 24, Finding of Fact No. 20.  


The issue of substantial evidence regarding PAWC’s notice of the chloramination implementation in this case is similar to an evidentiary issue regarding the appropriate placement of a pre-release center in Pa. Bureau of Corrections v. City of Pittsburgh, 516 Pa. 75, 532 A. 2d 12 (1987).  In that case, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court defined the requirements for substantial evidence where various Pittsburgh residents objected to the placement of a pre-release center for state prisoners in a Pittsburgh neighborhood.  The Court explained as follows:

Substantial evidence is ‘relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion.’  Valleyview Civic Association, 501 Pa. at 555, 462 A. 2d at 640 (citations omitted).  The evidence presented by the objectors consisted of testimony of various residents of the Soho/Bluff area of Pittsburgh.  The testimony showed that many of the residents perceived that the addition of the center to the neighborhood would ruin the neighborhood for various reasons . . . . The testimony of the neighborhood’s residents, however, was not substantiated by facts but was no more than their bald assertions, personal opinions, and perceptions of the pre-release center and the area.  They did not present any studies, police records, property valuations or any type of substantive evidence upon which their fears were based, which would lead a reasonable mind to conclude that the facility would be detrimental to the community’s general welfare.
516 Pa. at 79, 532 A. 2d at 14.


Upon a review of the record, we find that the ALJ correctly determined that the Joint Complainants did not meet their burden of proving that PAWC had rendered inadequate service in violation of 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501 by not giving sufficient notice to its customers.  As noted by the ALJ, not one person testified as to any act that they were unable to undertake as a result of the alleged lack of timely notice.  Even the person who testified out of her concern for the time that would be required to install a whole house filter did not testify as to how long it would take to install a whole house filter.  I.D. at 31.  Additionally, there is no specific Commission regulation or order that determines the amount of time that customers must be informed whenever a water company changes its choice of disinfectant.  I.D. at 32.  Accordingly, the Joint Complainants’ first Exception is denied.  


In their second Exception, the Joint Complainants object to the ALJ’s exclusion of the testimony of consumers and Complainants.  The Joint Complainants assert that those customers who attempted to explain the reasons for their perceptions and concerns over chloramination leading up to what they did or tried to do were silenced by PAWC and the ALJ, claiming that the testimony was inadmissible as hearsay and/or opinion requiring expert testimony.  The Joint Complainants argue that consumers were constantly interrupted and intimidated about uttering statements that would be unacceptable.  Many witnesses commented that they did not know what they were allowed to say.  Exc. at 12.  


On page fourteen of their Exceptions, the Joint Complainants state as follows: 
The consumers’ voices have yet to be heard on the issues that concern them in a meaningful forum.  The period to comment and seek hearing on the permits is long gone.  If the PUC cannot hear these issues th[e]n it must at a minimum safeguard the consumers until DEP does.  Unless PAWC can provide a compelling reasons why they would be prejudiced by delaying the transition when EPA regulations don’t require compliance until 2012, consumers should be allotted the opportunity to challenge this utility action in a forum that will allow testimony on health and environmental effects be it the DEP, the EPA or the legislature.


PAWC replies that the Joint Complainants' second Exception appears to be an attempt to collaterally attack the DEP permits and re-litigate the issues resolved by Order entered September 15, 2008.  PAWC asserts that this attempt is improper and that the Commission does not have the authority to grant a hearing before the DEP, the EPA or the legislature, which is apparently the relief sought by the Joint Complainants.  PAWC R. Exc. at 9.


With regard to the feeling of confusion of intimidation experienced by the witnesses, PAWC places the blame on the Joint Complainants.  PAWC states that the ALJ issued an Order specifying the particular type of notice to be published by the Joint Complainants for the Public input hearing.  This notice directed that no testimony or discussion of the health effects of chloramines would be allowed since that issue was addressed by the DEP.  PAWC recounts that the Joint Complainants ignored the ALJ’s Order and published their own notice that did not mention any limitations on the scope of allowable testimony.  PAWC notes that the ALJ explained at the public input hearing that witnesses would not be allowed to testify regarding health effects or to provide expert opinion testimony.   PAWC R. Exc. at 10-11.


In our Order entered September 15, 2008, we explicitly stated that evidence regarding health effects would not be admissible in this record because consideration of such matter is beyond our authority.  From our reading of the Joint Complainants’ Exception, we conclude that the Joint Complainants are still attempting to use this Commission to litigate issues which can only be considered by the DEP.  


The Joint Complainants fully recognize that the time for seeking a hearing on the permit granted to PAWC by the DEP is long gone.
  However, the Joint Complainants now seek a determination from this Commission that would require us to go beyond our jurisdiction and interfere with DEP’s authority.  The Joint Complainants also are asking us to interfere with PAWC’s management decisions in an impermissible way.  PAWC’s business decisions related to its water treatment choices have relied on the finality of the DEP permitting process.  As noted by the DEP in its Reply Exceptions, interference with the permitting process, whether direct or collateral, would cause water utilities to question the wisdom of spending their effort, time and money on new treatment plants if the DEP’s permitting decisions could be appealed after construction was complete.  DEP R. Exc. at 5.   


Upon review and consideration of the record, we find that the ALJ correctly limited the scope of the testimony at the public hearing and at the evidentiary hearings in a manner that was consistent with our Order entered  September 15, 2008.  Some testimony that was offered was based on what others have said and done, which was inadmissible hearsay.
  I.D. at 31.  In her Initial Decision, the ALJ reasoned as follows regarding the admissibility of lay opinions in this proceeding:

Lay opinions (for example, the rate of speed of a car that the witness has observed)
 may be expressed by non-expert witnesses only where (1) the witness has actually perceived the situation and (2) the opinion is not based on scientific, technical or specialized knowledge.  As none of the customers had first-hand knowledge of the factors considered by PAWC in its choice of treatment alternatives, and the determination of the prudency of such a decision necessarily requires the exercise of scientific, technical or specialized knowledge, this issue was not an appropriate subject of lay testimony.
I.D. at 36-37.  We find that the ALJ’s evidentiary findings are correct.  Accordingly, we shall deny the Joint Complainants’ second Exception.  
In their third Exception, the Joint Complainants object to the ALJ’s refusal to allow Susan Pickford to testify in this proceeding.  According to the Joint Complainants, the pertinent section in the Rules of Professional Conduct
 provides, in an exception to the general rule, that prejudice or conflict of interest must be asserted and balanced before testimony by an attorney is denied.  The Joint Complainants assert that the ALJ erred when she denied Susan Pickford the right to testify in this proceeding by requiring that she withdraw to testify or continue as the attorney for the group and not testify.  Exc. at 14-16.  The Joint Complainants argue that the effect of disqualifying Ms. Pickford as a witness was to deny her the right as a complainant to offer testimony that would have been relevant and critical to the issues.  Alternatively, the Joint Complainants assert that the effect of disqualifying Ms. Pickford as the attorney on the case in order to permit her to testify as a witness would have been to leave the remaining complaint with one attorney less intimately involved with the substance of the case.  Exc. at 15-16.
In reply, PAWC states that the ALJ properly prohibited Ms. Pickford from testifying as a fact witness while still remaining as co-counsel for the Joint Complainants.  PAWC set forth sections of Rule 3.7 of the Pennsylvania Rules of Professional Conduct which provide as follows:
(a) A lawyer shall not act as advocate at a trial in which the lawyer is likely to be a necessary witness unless:
     (1) the testimony relates to an uncontested issue; 
     (2) the testimony relates to the nature and value of legal services rendered in the case; or 
     (3) disqualification of the lawyer would work substantial hardship on the client.

(b)  A lawyer may act as advocate in a trial in which another lawyer in the lawyer’s firm is likely to be called as a witness unless precluded from doing so by Rule 1.7 or Rule 1.9.  



At the hearing, Ms. Pickford prepared to testify when counsel for PAWC objected because of Rule 3.7.  Counsel for PAWC explained that Rule 3.7 is meant to guard against a situation where an advocate may have a competing or conflicting interests with the other parties that she represents to the point where, after a case is tried and decided, a party, in this case, one of the Joint Complainants, could raise an issue under Rule 3.7 and the entire case would have to be re-done again.  Tr. at 244-245; PAWC R. Exc. at 14-15.  At this point in time, the ALJ gave Ms. Pickford the choice of either withdrawing as counsel and testifying as a witness or continuing to act as an attorney for the Joint Complainants even though able co-counsel was present.  Ms. Pickford chose to remain as co-counsel.  


  Upon a review of the record, we conclude that the ALJ was correct to require Ms. Pickford to assume just one role in this case.  Her testimony would have related to a contested issue that did not relate to the nature or value of the legal services rendered in this case.  Moreover, there were other consumers who were able to testify so there was no substantial hardship on the client.  If Ms. Pickford herself considered her testimony to be that important, she could have withdrawn and let her experienced co-counsel take over representation of the Joint Complainants.  We believe that the ALJ wisely avoided a situation that had the potential to raise future conflicts between Ms. Pickford and her clients.  Accordingly, the Joint Complainants’ third Exception is denied.


The Joint Complainants excepted to the ALJ’s striking of the testimony of the Joint Complainants’ expert witness, Dr. Clifford Conaway.  Dr. Conaway’s testimony was submitted on August 22, 2008, and was followed by PAWC’s written objection to his testimony.  The Joint Complainants assert that, since PAWC’s objection was not fashioned as a motion and did not include a notice to plead, that no answer to the objection was required.  The Joint Complainants except to the ALJ’s treatment of PAWC’s objection as a motion to strike.  When the Joint Complainants did not submit an answer, the ALJ granted PAWC’s objection and struck Dr. Conaway’s testimony.  The Joint Complainants argue that the ALJ’s action was improper and that Dr. Conaway’s testimony was not stricken on merit but on procedural grounds.  
Exc. at 16-17.  


The Joint Complainants also contend that Dr. Conaway’s testimony was offered, not to collaterally challenge DEP’s permitting process or the Environmental Protection Agency’s (EPA) rulemaking, but to address the issue of whether PAWC’s choice of treatment alternatives and its cost and implementation were prudent and appropriate.  Exc. at 17.  The Joint Complainants also argue that the portion of Dr. Conaway’s testimony concerning chloramine’s byproducts was not offered to attack the DEP’s permitting process but to discuss the reasonableness of PAWC’s decision to use a chemical that is currently not necessary to comply with EPA regulations.  The Joint Complainants argue that Dr. Conaway’s testimony also addressed the prudency of PAWC’s choice of chloramine as a treatment as opposed to available alternatives with regard to the effects chloramine has on household plumbing and aquatic pets and the financial burden it causes for consumers of whole house filters.  Exc. at 17-18.


PAWC replies that Dr. Conaway’s testimony was properly excluded on both procedural and substantive grounds.  According to PAWC, counsel for the Joint Complainants believed that a response to PAWC’s written objection was not required and could be addressed at the hearing.  The ALJ did not find this explanation to be credible because waiting until the time of the hearing to address the Objection would entail considerable expense and wasted effort from the Parties if the ALJ’s consideration of the Objection were delayed until the time of the hearing.  For one thing, the Joint Complainants themselves would have had to pay for their witness to attend the hearing despite the possibility that PAWC’s Objection would be sustained.  PAWC R. Exc. at 15-16.  PAWC also noted that the Joint Complainants did not except to the fact that the ALJ also granted PAWC’s Objection with respect to the testimony of Dr. Rakow and the Joint Complainants’ two unidentified witnesses.  PAWC R. Exc. at 17.  PAWC argues that the Joint Complainants’ responsibility to answer within twenty days after the filing of an objection is not contingent on the inclusion of a “notice to plead” under Section 5.103 of the Commission’s Regulations, 52 Pa. Code § 5.103(c).  PAWC R. Exc. at 17.  



PAWC contends that Dr. Conaway’s testimony was properly excluded on substantive grounds, inter alia, because: (1) his testimony related to the impermissible issue of health effects that are beyond the scope of the proceeding and the Commission’s jurisdiction; (2) certain portions of his testimony regarding corrosion of pipes and deterioration of certain elastomers and nitrification were without foundation; and (3) his testimony regarding the reasonableness, prudence and safety of using chloramine was based on inadmissible factors, including health effects.  PAWC also asserts that Dr. Conaway’s testimony appeared to be an attempt by the Joint Complainants to re-litigate the issues raised in their Petition for Interlocutory Review.  R. Exc. at 19-20. 


In its Reply Exceptions, the DEP agrees with the ALJ’s decision to strike Dr. Conaway’s testimony because, to do otherwise, would have been inefficient and expensive.  The DEP also argues that Dr. Conaway’s testimony was objectionable on procedural grounds because it was directly related to health effects and would have re-opened already litigated issues that were presented by the DEP.  DEP R. Exc. at 6-7.  


Upon a review of the record, we conclude that the ALJ was correct to exclude Dr. Conaway’s testimony.  We cannot rely on testimony that is without foundation.  Nor can we rely on testimony concerning matters that are outside our jurisdiction.  The DEP, not the Commission, has the expertise to deal with the health effects of chloramination.  Accordingly, we shall deny this Exception.


In their last Exception, the Joint Complainants except to the ALJ’s disallowance of all testimony related to health and safety where such evidence would have been offered in the context of reasonableness of choice and suitability and not in the context of regulation or issues within the DEP’s jurisdiction.  Exc. at 19-24.  The Joint Complainants argue that purpose of the DEP’s enforcement of the PA SDWA is to ensure that the EPA’s standards are adhered to in the implementation of approved treatment methods.  The Joint Complainants explain that DEP follows a “checklist of sorts” and that, when a company chooses an approved treatment method, that the DEP is only concerned with “whether the company can effectively set up and maintain that method within EPA standards.”  The Joint Complainants assert that the DEP approves the use of the treatment method if the company successfully completes the checklist of compliance.  Exc. at 20.


The Joint Complainants state that the Commission’s jurisdiction “picks up” where there is a question of whether that choice of treatment method provides consumers with reasonable, safe, adequate and prudent service.  The Joint Complainants argue that the Commission must allow testimony and evidence surrounding all aspects of chloramination that bear on the question of whether the company’s choice of treatment is prudent, reasonable, appropriate and safe.  Exc. at 20.  The Joint Complainants complain that the testimony in this proceeding was too limited and that it did not create a record on issues the Commission wanted: namely, the byproducts of chloramination, the cost of filters needed for health reasons, the effectiveness of chloramine in killing e-coli and rotoviruses and the cost of instituting a change in treatment method that is not required or necessary.  Exc. at 23-24.       


In its Reply Exceptions, PAWC asserts that the evidence regarding health concerns addressed in this proceeding were to be distinct from those considered in the DEP’s permitting requirements.  PAWC also states that our Order entered September 15, 2008, clearly states that the Parties are not precluded from introducing non-public health evidence that is relevant to those issues of water quality that do lie within the Commission’s jurisdiction, even if the evidence was previously presented before the DEP.  Order at 14.    
The DEP replies that, in this Exception, the Joint Complainants are still seeking to collaterally attack the DEP’s permitting decisions by trying to introduce evidence related to health and safety, albeit for a different purpose.  The DEP asserts that the Commission has already ruled that it will not consider evidence of the public health impacts of chloramine.  The DEP argues that the Complainants had an opportunity to present witnesses on the issue of whether the choice to use chloramine was prudent and reasonable.  However, when the moment presented itself, the Joint Complainants were not prepared to do so.  The DEP notes that, on the date established for the presentation of direct testimony, the Joint Complainants presented the testimony of several “unidentified expert witnesses,” one of which was to be an engineer.  The DEP asserts that the Joint Complainants were trying to circumvent the ALJ’s schedule for the submission of direct testimony, but had not yet secured an engineering expert.  The DEP contends that the ALJ was correct to exclude the direct testimony of the “unidentified expert witnesses.”  DEP R. Exc. at 23-24; I.D. at 14-15.  
It is well-settled that the Commission cannot exceed its jurisdiction and must act within it.  City of Pittsburgh v. Pa. PUC, 43 A.2d 348 (Pa. Super. 1945).  As a creature of legislation, the Commission possesses only the authority the state legislature has specifically granted to it in the Code.  66 Pa. C.S. §§ 101, et seq.  Its jurisdiction must arise from the express language of the pertinent enabling legislation or by strong and necessary implication therefrom.  Feingold v. Bell, 477 Pa. 1, 383 A.2d 791 (1977).  


In this Exception, the Joint Complainants minimize the importance of DEP’s role in the permitting process and seek to expand the Commission’s role.  The DEP’s statutory focus in administering the PA SDWA is the protection of the public health, while the Commission’s focus is the provision of safe, adequate and reasonable utility service.  The purpose of this proceeding has been to address the customers’ claims relating to the quality of water service provided by PAWC.  However, that which we address must fall within the restrictions of our statutory authority and also must comply with the rules of evidence.  
Upon review of the record, we find that the ALJ was correct to exclude the testimony of the “unidentified expert witnesses.”  It would have been vastly unfair to PAWC if the ALJ were to permit this.  Also, we could not consider the testimony of Dr. Conaway and Dr. Rakow, which contained material regarding health effects that are outside the purview of this proceeding.  While the Commission and the DEP have overlapping jurisdiction, the DEP has clear jurisdiction over the health effects related to drinking water under the PA SDWA, 35 P.S. §§ 721.1 – 721.17, and the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 300j – 330j-10.  Accordingly, the Joint Complainants’ last Exception is denied.  
Conclusion Regarding Litigated Issues
We conclude that the ALJ correctly concluded that the Joint Complainants failed to sustain their burden of establishing by a preponderance of substantial evidence: (1) that the notice provided by PAWC to its customers violated Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501, by providing service that is not “adequate, efficient, safe and reasonable;” (2) that PAWC committed a manifest abuse of discretion or acted arbitrarily so as to constitute a violation of Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code, 1501 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501, in its choice of treatment alternatives; and (3) that PAWC committed a violation of Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501, by providing water not suitable for household uses.  Accordingly, we shall deny the Joint Complainants’ Exceptions and adopt the ALJ’s Initial Decision.
Settlement


In recognition of the Commission’s policy encouraging settlements, PAWC and the OCA reached an understanding concerning certain steps that PAWC agreed to undertake, regardless of the outcome of this proceeding.  This agreement was reduced to writing and a Joint Petition for Settlement (Settlement Petition) was filed with the Commission on October 29, 2008.  The ALJ concluded that both PAWC and its customers can benefit from this agreement, which clearly is designed to help maintain water quality and consumer confidence in the quality of the water provided by PAWC.  The Joint Complainants did not join in the settlement.  I.D. at 42-43.

The Settlement Petition consists of the Petition itself, which describes the specific activities that PAWC agreed to undertake, the OCA’s Statement in Support (Appendix A) and PAWC’s Statement in Support (Appendix B).  On October 30, 2008, DEP filed a separate Statement in Support.

In the Settlement Petition, PAWC agreed to the following conditions: (1) to monitor for nitrification and to undertake an action plan in case of nitrification;
 (2) to test ten homes selected by the OCA for increased lead levels; (3) to provide certain information to customers at least three months prior to implementing chloramination; (4) to monitor developments related to the health effects and regulations concerning nitrogenous and iodinated disinfectant byproducts and to post annually a summary of its findings; and (5) to make prudent changes to treatment and/or facilities as may be necessary to conform to changes in regulatory requirements.  I.D. at 43; Settlement Petition at 2-4.  
The OCA supports the Settlement Petition as being in the public interest because PAWC has agreed, in large part, to undertake the actions recommended by the OCA and its expert witness to ensure that service is safe and adequate for PAWC customers who may be affected by the planned change to chloramination.  The OCA believes that PAWC’s adherence to the conditions in the Settlement will result in an improvement to the notice and information received by the Complainants and assurances that all current and future regulatory requirements are met regarding disinfection methods and byproducts.  OCA St. in Support at 3-4.
PAWC believes that it has provided, and will continue to provide, safe, adequate, efficient and reasonable service.  PAWC supports the Settlement Petition as being in the public interest because it will provide additional assurance to PAWC’s customers and will help alleviate consumer concerns expressed during this proceeding.  
The ALJ noted that, while this agreement does not resolve the issues raised in the Complaint, it involves a number of actions within the scope of DEP’s jurisdiction and PAWC has agreed to take these steps regardless of the outcome of the litigation.  The ALJ believed the Settlement Petition to be in the public interest because it represents reasonable and appropriate actions that directly address the concerns raised by the customers in this proceeding.  The ALJ also observed that the Joint Complainants gave no reason for deciding not to join in the Settlement and did not address it in their Brief.  As a result, the Joint Complainants have waived their right to challenge the reasonableness and propriety of any of its terms and conditions.  Jackson v. Kassab, 812 A.2d 1233, 1235 (Pa. Super. 2002); Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission v. Pennsylvania-American Water Co., 99 Pa. P.U.C. 4 (2004).  I.D. at 42-43.


PAWC and the OCA have entered into this Settlement in order to address many of the issues raised by customers in this proceeding. Since this Settlement Petition has been presented for our approval, we shall consider its effect. To determine whether the Settlement should be approved, the Commission must decide whether it promotes the public interest.  Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission v. C.S. Water and Sewer Associates, 74 Pa. PUC 767 (1991); Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission v. Philadelphia Electric Company, 60 Pa. PUC 1 (1985).


The first three conditions in the Settlement relate to actions PAWC will take that are within the DEP’s jurisdiction.  These include monitoring requirements, which will continue as long as PAWC uses chloramines in its West Shore treatment plants, a nitrification action plan that has an employee training component and the monitoring of ten homes selected by the OCA for lead in drinking water for as long as PAWC uses chloramines. Settlement at 2-3.  These Settlement conditions will be beneficial to customers because they are designed to alleviate customer concerns regarding chloramine and to assure customers that PAWC’s use of chloramines will be monitored in a consistent and continuous manner.  


PAWC has agreed to provide three months’ notification to customers prior to the implementation of the change to chloramination.  PAWC will send a copy of its online chloramination pamphlet to its affected customers and clear and conspicuous notice of the anticipated date of implementation.  PAWC also will post information on its web site that will include topics that were of great interest and concern during this proceeding.  These include: the removal of chloramines from household water, a link to filtration information, the effect on household plumbing, information regarding chloramine disinfection byproducts, and health and safety issues for customers and pets.  PAWC will also train its customer service representatives about these issues so that they can provide an informed response to customers’ inquiries.  


In our view, this condition will go a long way towards addressing the concerns that were expressed by customers in this proceeding.  In the Complaints and in their testimony at the public input hearing, customer have been apprehensive about the effects of chloramine on drinking water, the byproducts, the effect on plumbing and the need for filters.  Dialysis has been another very important concern.  Clear, accurate and easily understandable information is one of the best remedies for the apprehension that customers have expressed in this proceeding.         


In the remaining conditions of this Settlement, PAWC agrees to be vigilant in monitoring developments related to the health effects and regulations concerning nitrogenous and iodinated disinfection byproducts.  A summary of PAWC’s findings will be posted annually on its web site.  PAWC also agrees to make prudent changes to its treatment and/or facilities as may be necessary to conform to changes in regulatory requirements.  These conditions will provide additional assurance to customers that PAWC will not simply implement chloramination but will follow up on future developments and findings and will take prudent measures to meet all regulatory requirements. This expansion of customer information on PAWC’s web site will be beneficial to the public at large.  



We note here that PAWC has agreed to comply with all the conditions in this Settlement without regard to the outcome of this proceeding.  PAWC has suspended the implementation of chloramination during the pendency of this proceeding.  In addition, PAWC has agreed to an additional ninety days’ notice and additional monitoring that will accrue to the customers’ benefit.  We believe that the improved customer education aspects of this Settlement will be good for PAWC as well as its customers and that the additional employee training and monitoring will provide better customer service.  Accordingly, we shall approve the Settlement as being in the public interest; THEREFORE,      
IT IS ORDERED:
1.
That the Exceptions of the Complainants are denied.


2.
That the Initial Decision of Administrative Law Judge Marlane R. Chestnut issued February 18, 2009, is adopted.

3. 
That the Complaint of Susan K. Pickford against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078029 is dismissed.
4.
That the Complaint of Robert F. and Nancy L. Cox against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078030 is dismissed.
5.
That the Complaint of Anthony F. Davis against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078031 is dismissed.
6.
That the Complaint of Lisa M. Walker against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078034 is dismissed.
7.
That the Complaint of Victoria Millard against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078035 is dismissed.
8.
That the Complaint of Christine and Erik Bish against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078036 is dismissed.
9.
That the Complaint of David and Jessica Sears against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078037 is dismissed.
10.
That the Complaint of Matt and Tricia J. Coniglio against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078038 is dismissed.
11.
That the Complaint of Hans and Renee Wertz against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078039 is dismissed.
12.
That the Complaint of Barbara Stern against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078041 is dismissed.
13.
That the Complaint of William Bottonari against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078042 is dismissed.
14.
That the Complaint of Kelly L. Houpt against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078043 is dismissed.
15.
That the Complaint of Arthur J. Sconing against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078044 is dismissed.
16.
That the Complaint of Gerard E. and Barbara Martin against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078045 is dismissed.
17.
That the Complaint of Carl L. Crone against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078046 is dismissed.
18.
That the Complaint of Ann Marie Judson against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078051 is dismissed.
19.
That the Complaint of Adele Wilcox and John Kirk against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078052 is dismissed.
20.
That the Complaint of Danielle Oakes against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078061 is dismissed.
21.
That the Complaint of Missak Sisserian against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-2008-2044004 is dismissed.

22.
That the Joint Petition for Settlement filed by the Office of Consumer Advocate and the Pennsylvania-American Water Company is approved.
23.
That the record at Docket Nos. C-20078029, C-20078030, C-20078031, C-20078034, C-20078035, C-20078036, C-20078037, C-20078038, C-20078039, C-20078041, C-20078042, C-20078043, C-20078044, C-20078045, C-20078046, C-20078051, C-20078052, C-20078061, and C-2008-2044004 be marked closed.
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BY THE COMMISSION,








James J. McNulty








Secretary

(SEAL)

ORDER ADOPTED: May 14, 2009
ORDER ENTERED:  May 14, 2009
	�	A more complete history of this case can be found on pages one through twenty of the Initial Decision. 


	�	The Complaints of Sandra and James Whittaker, Paul and Elizabeth Hemler, Nancy Bigelow at Docket Nos. C-20078032, C-20078033 and C�20078040 were withdrawn in September 2007.  The Complaint of Priscilla Smith at Docket No. C�20078062 was withdrawn on November 27, 2007.


	� 	The Answer to the Sisserian Complaint at Docket No. C-2008-2044004 was filed on June 19, 2008.


	� 	The Joint Petition of Settlement is attached as Appendix A to the Initial Decision.


	� 	See Appendix B to the Initial Decision for a listing of statements and exhibits.


	�	35 P.S. §§ 721.2 – 721.17. 


	�	 Notice of PAWC’s application to construct an aqua ammonia feed system and two chemical unloading containment stations was published in the November 20, 2004 Pennsylvania Bulletin (34 Pa. Bulletin 6253), with a thirty-day public comment period.  No comments were submitted to the DEP. The DEP approved the application and issued a Public Water Supply Permit for “Chloramination Facilities, Chemical Unloading Station.”  Notice of the DEP’s approval of the construction permit was published in the March 5, 2005 Pennsylvania Bulletin (35 Pa. Bulletin 1621).  No appeals were filed and the DEP’s issuance of the construction permit was final and binding.  Following construction, PAWC applied for a Public Water Supply Permit to operate the facilities described in the construction permit for the SSWTP.  DEP granted the operating permit for the SSWTP on March 29, 2006, and published notice in the April 15, 2006 Pennsylvania Bulletin.  (36 Pa. Bulletin 1786).  Order entered March 20, 2008 at 5-6.


 


	�	Hearsay is defined as evidence not proceeding from the personal knowledge of the witness, but from the mere repetition of what he has heard others say.  Black’s Law Dictionary 649 6th Ed. 


  


	� 	Kearns v. DeHass, 546 A.2d 1226, 1235 (Pa. Super. 1988).





	�	Rule 3.7(3)(b)(4) of the Pennsylvania Rules of Professional Conduct   


	�	Nitrification is the process by which ammonia is converted to nitrites 


(NO2) and then nitrates (NO3-).  This process naturally occurs in the environment, where it is carried out by specialized bacteria.  http:www.rpi.edu/dept/chem.-eng/Biotech-Environ/Environmental/nitrification.htnl   According to the DEP’s web site, chloramine levels are more complicated to regulate than chlorine levels.  Failure to properly control and monitor the treatment process can cause undesirable chemical reactions such as increased corrosion of pipes or nitrification in the distribution system.  While corrosion can cause leaching of lead and copper from pipes, nitrification can cause a loss of disinfectant residual. http://www.depweb.state.pa.us/watersupply/cwp/view.asp?a=1251&q=504451 
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James H. Cawley, Vice Chairman


Robert F. Powelson


Tyrone J. Christy


Kim Pizzingrilli


Wayne E. Gardner

David E. Stefanoski





Docket No. C-20078219


v. 






Pennsylvania-American Water Company



OPINION AND ORDER


BY THE COMMISSION:



Before the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) for consideration and disposition is the Initial Decision (I.D.) of Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Ember S. Jandebeur in the above-captioned proceeding issued April 28, 2008.  The Initial Decision dismissed the Formal Complaint as time barred under the statute of limitations provision in Section 3314(a) of the Public Utility Code (Code), 66 Pa. C.S. § 3315(a).  No exceptions were filed.  Pursuant to Section 332(h) of the Public Utility Code (Code), 66 Pa. C.S. § 332(h), however, we have exercised our right to review the decision.  For the reasons set forth below, we modify the Initial Decision.

History of the Proceeding



On September 7, 2007, David Stefanoski filed a Formal Complaint with the Commission against Pennsylvania American Water Company (PAWC) alleging that PAWC had a water line on his property.  Mr. Stefanoski wanted the water line to be removed or, in the alternative, he wanted compensation from PAWC for the line being on his property.  Mr. Stefanoski was concerned that the water main is a danger on his property.  I.D. at 1.

This case is an appeal from a prior informal Bureau of Consumer Services (BCS) investigation that did not result in a decision.  BCS orally informed Mr. Stefanoski on September 7, 2007, that BCS could not render a decision whether or not PAWC’s right-of-way was valid.  I.D. at 1.

On October 1, 2007, PAWC filed a timely Answer denying the material allegations of the Complaint.  PAWC also submitted New Matter claiming that PAWC had a legal right-of-way and that the Formal Complaint failed to state a cause of action for which relief may be granted.  On October 10, 2007, Mr. Stefanoski filed a timely response to the New Matter, which indicated that a new water line was installed in 1984.  Due to shrubbery that was planted in the right-of-way, Pennsylvania Gas & Water (PG&W)
 installed the water line outside the right-of-way. The response further indicated that, during the 1984 installation, Mr. Stefanoski was unavailable due to family medical emergency issues.  This dispute proceeded through the Office of the Administrative Law Judge’s (OALJ) mediation process, but was unresolved.  I.D. at 1-2.

The hearing convened before the ALJ on November 20, 2007.  Mr. Stefanoski appeared on his own behalf and PAWC was represented by counsel.  The ALJ dismissed the Formal Complaint as time barred under the statute of limitations provision in Section 3314(a) of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 3314(a).
  No exceptions were filed.  I.D. at 2-3.

Discussion



The ALJ made three Findings of Fact and reached one Conclusion of Law.  The ALJ found this Complaint to be problematic because: (1) the cause of action occurred in 1984; (2) the legal interpretation of the validity of a right of way is a matter properly before a court of competent jurisdiction -- not the Commission; and (3) the cause of action was carried out by PG&W, the predecessor company, not PAWC.  Since the ALJ dismissed the Formal Complaint as time barred, the other issues were rendered moot.  The ALJ also noted PAWC’s statement on the record that Mr. Stefanoski would have a legal cause of action against PAWC in the event that harm came to his property as a result of PAWC’s water line.



We agree with the ALJ’s decision to dismiss the Complaint; however, we believe the Complaint should be dismissed on the grounds that the Commission lacks jurisdiction in this proceeding.  As the ALJ correctly noted, the Commission does not have jurisdiction over disputes that require interpretations of the validity of a right-of-way.  I.D. at 3.  Such matters are properly within the jurisdiction of the Courts of Common Pleas of the Commonwealth.
   



The statute of limitations provision in Section 3314(a) of the Code applies only to actions that are within the Commission’s jurisdiction, specifically, actions for violations of the Code.  As such, the Complaint should be dismissed on the basis that the Commission lacks jurisdiction in this proceeding and not on the basis that the Complaint is time barred; THEREFORE, 

IT IS ORDERED:  



1.
That the Initial Decision of ALJ Jandebeur is amended consistent with this Opinion and Order.


2.
That the Complaint of David Stefanoski be dismissed.


3.
That the proceeding at Docket No. C-20078219 be closed.








BY THE COMMISSION,









James J. McNulty









Secretary


(SEAL)


ORDER ADOPTED:  August 7, 2008

ORDER ENTERED:  

	�	 PG&W was the predecessor water company.



	�	Section 3314(a) of the Code states as follows:   



General rule. – No action for the recovery of any penalties of forfeitures incurred under the provisions of this part, and no prosecutions on account of any matter or thing mentioned in this part, shall be maintained unless brought within three years from the date at which the liability therefor arose, except as otherwise provided in this part.        







	�	  See Anne E. Perrige v. Metropolitan Edison Co., Docket No. C-00004110 (July 11, 2003); Fiorillo v. PECO Energy Co., Docket No. C-00971088 (September 15, 1999). 
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